BIOFORTIFICATION: A food-systems solution to help end hidden hunger





Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

A foreword from Anna Lartey and Arun Baral

Micronutrient deficiency, or hidden hunger, is the most prevalent form of malnutrition, affecting more than two billion people worldwide. Its health impacts—which include stunting, anemia, impaired vision, and even deathare a serious burden for people in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) who cannot afford, or do not have access to healthy and diversified diets.

Biofortification (nutrient-enriched crops) is part of a food systems approach to address hidden hunger. Biofortification increases the micronutrient content of staple crops for low-resource populations in LMICs who depend on these relatively inexpensive crops for much of their diet.

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) and HarvestPlus are working together to integrate biofortification into national and global food systems. This brief describes our existing areas of collaboration and is intended to inspire FAO staff to develop more opportunities to reach more people with the benefits of biofortification.

Biofortification, diversification of crop and animal production, and dietary diversity, as well as fortification and supplementation, are all essential and complementary elements to tackle hidden hunger—one of the biggest problems our world faces today. FAO and HarvestPlus have a shared goal to contribute toward achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals, particularly those targeting zero hunger and good health and well-being. By combining our respective areas of expertise, we will be able to generate more impact.

ANNA LARTEY Director, Nutrition and Food Systems Division, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)

ARUN BARAL Chief Executive Officer, HarvestPlus

Table of Contents

Introduction	1
A food-systems solution	2
Biofortification	2
Biofortified crop availability, and agronomic and nutritional properties	2
Summary of evidence	3
Farmer adoption and consumer acceptance of biofortified crops	4
Nutrition and health benefits of biofortified foods	5
Reach: Number of people growing and benefitting from biofortified crops	6
Cost-effectiveness of biofortification	7
FAO-HarvestPlus collaboration and case studies	10
Frequently asked questions about biofortification	11
List of references	14



Introduction

Hidden hunger is caused by insufficient intake, absorption, and/or utilization of essential vitamins and minerals. It is a persistent global health problem, and about one quarter of the world's population is deficient in vitamins and minerals (or "micronutrients")¹. In children and adolescents, these deficiencies increase risk of morbidity and mortality, and lead to irreversible and lifelong deficits in physical and cognitive development²⁻³; in women, they increase the risk of morbidity and mortality, particularly during pregnancy³⁴; and in people of working age, they reduce productivity³, thereby impairing both short- and long-term livelihood potential⁵.

HarvestPlus leads and coordinates a global effort within the CGIAR network to improve the nutrition and health of smallholder farmer families and consumers of staple crops. The effort focuses on catalyzing the development, production, delivery, and consumption of crops that are rich in at least one of three essential micronutrients identified by the World Health Organization (WHO) as among those most often lacking in diets globally: vitamin A, iron, and zinc.

Biofortification is a cost-effective, food-based, nutrition-sensitive agricultural approach for improving nutrition and is one of a range of complementary strategies, including diversification of various plants and animals in the production system, dietary diversification, supplementation, and commercial food fortification⁶. The ultimate nutrition goal is that everyone has access to an affordable, diversified healthy diet. Biofortification contributes to this goal by ensuring that the staple crop component of this diet is as nutritious as possible. This is particularly important for the rural poor whose diets continue to be dominated by staples and who are as yet unable to access a diversified healthy diet.

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) addresses hunger and all forms of malnutrition using a food systems approach. In line with this, the FAO Conference, the highest decision-making body of the organization, has endorsed "Promoting healthy diets and preventing all forms of malnutrition" as its biennial (2020-2021) theme. In July 2019, FAO and WHO convened an international expert consultation to elaborate guiding principles for sustainable, healthy diets for its member states. These guiding principles were published in October 2019.¹ FAO views biofortification as one of the complementary interventions whose promotion can improve micronutrient intake and can contribute to healthy diets.

In 2016, the WHO, together with FAO, convened a technical consultation to review the scientific evidence, country experiences, and multiple other technical, environmental, and regulatory aspects of biofortified crops. The WHO is currently conducting a Cochrane Systematic Review of published evidence on the nutritional impact of biofortification.

This brief presents the latest evidence from rigorous research and implementation lessons learned on how biofortification can contribute to improving food systems for all. It describes the main achievements and evidence of almost two decades of research and implementation led by the HarvestPlus program and conducted in partnership with over 450 public, private, and civil society partners. Policy options and opportunities to sustain and scale up impact are introduced, and the role of an FAO-HarvestPlus partnership for supporting country-level efforts is highlighted through case studies. The ultimate aim is to encourage the adoption and scaling up of biofortification through national policies and programs, with collaborative support from FAO and HarvestPlus.

i. FAO and WHO. 2019. Sustainable healthy diets – Guiding principles. Rome. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/ca6640en/ca6640en.pdf



Biofortification: A food-systems solution

Biofortified crop varieties are those which have been nutritionally enhanced using conventional plant breeding or modern biotechnology, (including recombinant DNA techniques). However, by far the most widely adopted biofortified crop varieties have been those developed through conventional crop breeding.

Staple food crops such as wheat, maize, rice, cassava, sweet potato, beans, and pearl millet are primary targets for biofortification because they are consumed widely as a part of everyday diets in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) but tend to provide low levels of bioavailable micronutrients. Biofortification through conventional plant breeding improves the micronutrient content in these staple food crops through the following process:

- 1. Varieties that are naturally high in targeted micronutrients are selected;
- 2. High micronutrient content varieties are crossbred with high-yielding and climate smart/resilient varieties; and
- 3. Biofortified crops that are high-yielding, climate-smart, and nutrient dense are developed.

About HarvestPlus

HarvestPlus, launched in 2003, is a global research program based at the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), one of the CGIAR centers. The mission of HarvestPlus is to catalyze the development and scale up of biofortification to improve micronutrient content of staple crops as a complementary, natural, and sustainable solution to hidden hunger.

HarvestPlus has more than 170 staff members based in Washington, D.C.and in 14 countries across Asia, Africa, and Latin America. Their areas of expertise include biofortified crop development, farmer engagement, supply chains for biofortified seed and foods, food science and nutrition research, impact monitoring, policy engagement, and communication. HarvestPlus collaborates with hundreds of partners worldwide to make biofortification an integral part of sustainable, healthy food systems that bridge gaps between agriculture and nutrition.

HarvestPlus promotes the use and delivery of conventionally bred and agronomically-enhanced crops. To date, all of the biofortified crops released through the efforts of HarvestPlus and its partners were developed using conventional plant breeding.

Biofortified crop availability, agronomic and nutritional properties

Over 200 varieties of 11 biofortified crops have been officially released in 30 countries, with support from Harvest-Plus (thousands more varietal lines are in testing in these countries and over 30 more). The International Potato Center (CIP), in collaboration with HarvestPlus, has also released over 100 varieties of vitamin A orange-fleshed sweet potatoes (OFSP) in an additional 10 countries. Once released, biofortified crops are continuously improved by selecting varieties with progressively higher levels of micronutrients, that are agronomically competitive (e.g., disease and pest resistant), well adapted to a wide range of agroecological conditions, including being climate-smart (e.g., drought and heat tolerant), and exhibit food quality traits desired by farmers, food processors, and consumers (e.g., fast cooking time and good taste). Biofortified crops are made available as public goods to national governments and small- or medium-size private sector seed companies. These institutions can then perform further tests and develop and release new and improved varieties.

Only varieties with scientifically proven potential to improve micronutrient intakes are disseminated and promoted. Each biofortified crop is rigorously tested to ensure it will improve the nutritional status of the target population groups. When eaten regularly, biofortified foods provide a safe and effective source of key micronutrients. An overview of the numbers of biofortified varieties released, agronomic traits preferred by farmers, target micronutrient levels, and the type and amounts of nutrients delivered, by crop and by region are provided in Table 1.

Table 1. Numbers of biofortified crop varieties released, beneficial agronomic traits^{*}, target nutrient level^{**}, and total amount of nutrient delivered[†], by crop and by region

	Biofortified crop	Number of releases by region		Total	Agronomic traits	Target nutrient level	Percent of the EAR met when consumed	
		Africa	Asia	LAC			(ppm)	as staple
,	VITAMIN A CROPS							
	Orange-fleshed sweet potato	7		7	14	High yielding, fast maturing, virus resistant, drought tolerant	32	Up to 100%
	Orange maize	54		1	55	High yielding, disease and virus resistant, drought tolerant	15	Up to 50%
	Yellow cassava	13		3	16	High yielding, virus resistant	15	Up to 100%
	Banana/plantain	10			10	In testing	30	Up to 50%

IRON CROPS

Common beans	39		21	60	High yielding, virus resistant, heat and drought tolerant	94	Up to 80%
Pearl millet	ı	9		10	High yielding, mildew resistant, drought tolerant	77	Up to 80%
Cowpea		5	3	8	Early maturing, disease resistant	98	Up to 25%
Lentils		9		10	High yielding, early maturing	110	In testing

ZINC CROPS

Wheat	10	1	11	High yielding, disease resistant	37	Up to 50%
Rice	10		10	High yielding, disease and pest resistant	28	Up to 40%
Maize		7	7	High yielding, virus resistant	37	Up to 70%

- * Each variety has different competitive advantages (these may be agronomic, tolerance to abiotic stresses, or more desirable consumer traits) compared to other popular local varieties.
- ** Target total micronutrient concentration (baseline + increase from biofortification), expressed as parts per million (ppm).
- Total amount of micronutrient provided that meets the physiological requirements for young children (1-6 years) and non-pregnant, non-lactating women of reproductive age (15-49 years), expressed as % of estimated average requirement (EAR) met⁸⁺⁰. The EAR is the nutrient intake value that is estimated to meet the requirement of half of the healthy individuals in a specific group.

Summary of evidence

Over 16 years of peer-reviewed research has provided strong evidence that biofortified crops are well accepted by farmers and consumers, improve nutritional status and health of vulnerable populations, and are a cost-effective solution to help end hidden hunger. In total, three effectiveness trials, 16 randomized controlled efficacy trials and 13 bioavailability studies have been carried out by HarvestPlus collaborators since 2009. The following section provides an overview of the evidence to date generated by HarvestPlus and its partners.

Farmer adoption and consumer acceptance of biofortified crops

Extensive research, including adoption and consumer acceptance studies, sensory studies, and program evaluations, have been conducted to inform the development of acceptable, effective, and scalable planting materials and food and delivery models for biofortified crops. An overview of these findings is presented in Table 2.

Highlights

- By the end of 2018, over 7.6 million farming households worldwide were growing and consuming biofortified crops, including vitamin A yellow cassava, orange maize, and OFSP; high iron beans and pearl millet; and zinc rice and wheat³².
- Farmers are willing to grow biofortified crops because of their higher yields, various improved production traits, and overall climate-adaptiveness.
- Consumers enjoy sensory attributes (e.g., appearance, odor, taste, and texture) of biofortified crops. Though introducing new crops varieties, especially if they alter color, may require some adaption, community acceptance (measured in terms of their willingness to pay) increases when consumers are provided with information on the nutritional benefits of biofortified foods.

Nutrition and health benefits of biofortified foods

Biofortified crops are designed to improve the micronutrient intakes of young children (1-6 years) and nonpregnant, non-lactating women of reproductive age (WRA) (15-49 years). However, these crops also provide nutritional benefits to other population groups — anyone who consumes staple foods as a main part of their diet. Table 3 summarizes findings from retention, bioavailability, efficacy, effectiveness, and impact evaluations investigating the nutritional and health effects of biofortified staple foods, by nutrient and crop.



Table 2. Farmer and consumer acceptance of biofortified crops and foods, by nutrient and crop

Biofortified crop	Farmer adoption and consumer acceptance
TAMIN A CROPS	
Orange-fleshed sweet potato	 After four growing seasons, over 60 percent of all beneficiaries from two effectiveness trials in Uganda and Mozambique adopted vitamin A OFSP".
	- Consumers enjoy the appearance, odor, taste, and texture of foods made from vitamin A OFSP (e.g., bread) ¹²⁻¹⁴ .
A CONTRACTOR	- Consumers prefer vitamin A OFSP over conventional white sweet potato varieties when nutrition information is provided ¹⁵¹⁶ .
Vitamin A orange maize	- Farmers prefer the yield, cob size, and cob-filling characteristics of vitamin A orange maize to conventional white maize".
A CONTRACTOR	 Nearly all (97 percent) of first-time adopters of vitamin A orange maize said they would grow it again in the next season and that, on average, they were planning to plant four times more seed than they did in the previous season¹⁸.
	- Consumers value traditional foods made with vitamin A orange maize more than foods from white and yellow maize varieties, even in the absence of nutrition information ¹⁹ .
Vitamin A yellow cassava	- Production of vitamin A yellow cassava in Nigeria is highly profitable ²⁰ .
	- Women and children prefer the soft texture, sweet taste, and color of vitamin A yellow cassava over traditional white cassava ²¹⁻²² .
	- Foods made from vitamin A yellow cassava are preferred over foods made from conventional white cassava; this preference is even greater when nutrition information is provided ²³²⁴ .
ON CROPS	
High-iron beans	

High-iron beans	 In 2018, 20 percent of all bean growers in Rwanda grew high-iron biofortified beans²⁵. Consumers in Rwanda prefer high-iron beans over local common bean varieties²⁶. Consumers enjoy the taste, color and texture of high-iron beans in Colombia and Guatemala²⁷⁻²⁹.
Iron pearl millet	 Consumers enjoy sensory attributes of iron pearl millet, and local foods made from it, over the conventional non-biofortified variety³⁰. Almost three-quarters (73%) of first-time adopters of iron pearl millet said that they would grow it again in the next season³¹.

Highlights

- Increased levels of micronutrients in biofortified crops are as bioavailable as those found in conventional varieties and therefore provide higher amounts of absorbed nutrients.
- Young children (1-6 years) and non-pregnant, non-lactating WRA (15-49 years) can get up to 100, 80, and 70 percent of their daily average vitamin A, iron, and zinc requirements, respectively, when biofortified crops are consumed as the main component of their daily diets.
- Biofortified crops improve micronutrient status and functional health outcomes, such as cognitive function and physical activity, and reduce morbidity in non-pregnant, non-lactating WRA and children.

Table 3. Nutrition and health benefits of biofortification, by nutrient and crop

Biofortified crop	Nutrition and health benefits of crops
VITAMIN A CROPS	Provitamin A carotenoids in biofortified vitamin A crops are efficiently converted to the active form of the vitamin (retinol) ³³ .
Orange-fleshed sweet potato	 Eating OFSP helps improve children's vitamin A status and dietary vitamin A intake among WRA and children^{34:38}. Regular consumption of OFSP reduces child morbidity: prevalence and duration of diarrheal episodes were significantly reduced in children <5y^{39.}
Vitamin A orange maize	 Eating orange maize improves vitamin A status and concentrations of vitamin A precursors (e.g., beta-carotene, alpha-carotene, and beta-cryptoxanthin)⁴⁰⁻⁴². Regular consumption of orange maize significantly improves young children's (4-8 y) ability to see in dim light by improving their pupillary responsiveness⁴³.
Vitamin A yellow cassava	 Yellow cassava retains intermediate-to-high levels of provitamin A carotenoids when processed using traditional cooking methods and recipes that involve boiling and frying⁴⁵. Regular consumption of yellow cassava improves school-aged children's vitamin A status⁴⁴.
IRON CROPS	The total iron absorbed from high-iron beans or iron pearl millet is significantly greater than from conventional varieties ⁴⁶⁴⁷ .
High-iron beans	 Eating high-iron beans helps prevent and reverse iron deficiency and increases hemoglobin concentration in WRA⁴⁸. Regular consumption of high-iron beans reduces time spent in sedentary activities and improves cognitive performance (memory and attention) in young women—key skills for optimal performance at school and work⁴⁹⁻⁵¹
Iron pearl millet	 Eating iron pearl millet helps reverse iron deficiency and improves iron status in adolescent children⁵². Regular consumption of iron pearl millet significantly improves cognitive performance (memory and attention) in adolescent children⁵³.
ZINC CROPS	Zinc absorption from meals based on biofortified staple foods (whole maize meal, polished rice, or whole or refined wheat flour) is 8-25 percent higher than zinc absorption from conventional varieties ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁵ .
Zinc wheat	 Eating zinc wheat helps reduce maternal and child morbidity: when eaten daily, women spend fewer days with fever and children spend fewer days ill with pneumonia and vomiting⁵⁶. Biofortification improves the amount of zinc absorbed from wheat⁵⁴⁻⁵⁵.
Zinc rice	 Zinc from biofortified rice is as well absorbed as zinc provided through industrial fortification and provides more bioavailable zinc than conventional rice⁵⁷.

Reach: Number of people growing and benefitting from biofortified crops

By 2018, an estimated 38 million people worldwide benefited from the production and consumption of biofortified crops and foods (Figure 1). Farming households in LMICs are reached with biofortified crops through a number of different delivery channels, including:

- **A social delivery approach.** Farmers acquire planting material either as free promotional/test packs or pay for the planting material through non-cash means, e.g., swapping grain for seed or giving back to HarvestPlus or to another farmer a prescribed quantity of planting material after the first harvest (i.e., payback or pass on).
- **Commercial delivery.** Farmers acquire seed/planting material on a cash basis directly from the market (subsidized or not).
- **Farmer-to-farmer diffusion.** Farmers voluntarily share their seed with fellow farmers.



Figure 1. Annual number of people growing and consuming biofortified crops.

Source: Catalyzing biofortified food systems: 2018 Annual Report. Washington, DC: HarvestPlus. 2018

Cost-effectiveness of biofortification

Hidden hunger is costly in both health and economic terms. Biofortification is an economical means of adding essential vitamins and minerals to the diet to reduce these costs. In 2008, the Copenhagen Consensus, a global research think tank and policy advisory group, ranked biofortification as a priority intervention for tackling the disease burden associated with micronutrient deficiencies. Based on their assessment, for every 1 USD spent on biofortification, as much as 17 USD in benefits could be generated⁶. The expert panel considered strategies to address micronutrient malnutrition, such as biofortification, supplementation and fortification, as some of the smartest ways to spend money and advance global welfare. In addition, numerous economic evaluations have been conducted to determine the cost-effectiveness of biofortification, using the World Bank criteria of cost (in USD) per disability-adjusted life year (DALY) averted⁵⁸. In all of these evaluations, biofortification interventions have been shown to be highly cost-effective (which the World Bank defines as less than 150 USD per DALY saved)⁵⁸. For example, a cost-effectiveness analysis following a large-scale vitamin A OFSP intervention in Uganda demonstrated that biofortification costs only 15-20 USD per DALY saved⁵⁹, and a 2018 review comparing ex ante cost-effectiveness evaluations of biofortification studies concluded that, in most cases, biofortification is highly cost-effective⁶⁰.

Integrating biofortification in policies and programs

In order to scale up biofortification sustainably, governments should integrate biofortification into their existing agriculture, health, and social safety net policies and programs, regulations and standards pertaining to seeds and foods, and varietal release protocols. Policy inclusion would enable sustainable mainstreaming (including biofortification in all crop breeding targets and food systems) of biofortification. HarvestPlus has developed tools, such as the Biofortification Priority Index, that can help guide governments' and donors' investments by informing them about which biofortified crops would have the biggest impact in terms of micronutrient deficiency reduction in a given context. Decision makers are guided by the following information:

Analysis and targeting: As noted previously, there is substantial evidence of biofortification's beneficial nutrition, health, and economic impact. Policymakers can target areas and populations that would benefit most from biofortification by using available data on production and consumption of staple food crops, current micronutrient deficiency rates, and effective coverage of other interventions; policymakers can also review existing policies and programs that could feasibly include biofortification. Policies and programs to promote biofortified crops as part of healthy diets and food-systems should also be supported by nutrition education on the importance of eating a diversified diet and empowering consumers to choose nutritious foods.

Suggested policies to target include:

- national development plans
- national agricultural investment plans
- seed policies
- food, nutrition, and fortification policies
- stunting and anemia strategies
- early childhood development and school health policies

Regional, national, and local programs to target include:

- government subsidy and procurement (seed and food)
- agricultural extension
- infant and young child feeding
- school meals
- ante- and post-natal counselling
- nutrition education and other relevant community health programs
- national nutrition surveys
- university and school curricula
- government-funded public service announcements/campaigns

Policy considerations and recommendations:

- Support strengthening of breeding programs, especially for the evaluation of new, potentially adapted, biofortified varieties.
- Facilitate variety registration systems in order to consider biofortified characteristics, and not only yield.
- Facilitate variety adoption by farmers, promoting demo plots and strengthening extension systems.
- Strengthen systems for multiplying and marketing seed and planting material, so that a diverse suite of biofortified varieties can reach farmers, even in remote locations.



Biofortification policies: Key considerations

- **Policy planning:** When existing policies are up for renewal, policymakers can plan to include biofortification in future iterations and can review program budgets to determine what funding could be available. Governments can also incentivize the private sector to increase uptake of biofortification in their product portfolios (e.g., through tax breaks or subsidies for producing biofortified products, offering free/subsidized training on biofortified crops/foods, and raising awareness of micronutrient deficiency and the role of biofortification in reducing it).

Cost of implementing biofortification

Crop development	Initial work on biofortification is generally funded through HarvestPlus and the CG centers using donor funding, with crops targeted to key micronutrient deficiencies in low and lower middle-income countries. Private sectors seed companies also invest private money in product seed development. Some Governments have led national breeding programs (e.g. India), including maintenance breeding programs once adopted, engaging their agricultural universities.
Farmers as growers and home consumers	In noncommercial settings, farmers receive the seeds or stems for free, with "pay it forward" used in some settings. Vines and stems, for which commercial markets are often insignificant, are shared with neighbors after harvest to aid dissemination. Wherever HarvestPlus biofortified seeds are sold in markets, they are competitively priced, given there are no private sector R and D costs to be recouped. Biofortified varieties are agronomically
Food	competitive to grow, requiring no more inputs than the varieties they are designed to replace. Given that production costs are no higher, food manufacturers are unlikely to need to pay more
manufacturers	for biofortified ingredients. In some cases manufacture can be less expensive, for example partially replacing wheat flour with orange flesh sweet potato flour in bread.
Low income consumers as shoppers	Given the raw materials should cost the same, products such as flour from millers and manufacturers is not more expensive.
Policymakers and government	Once biofortified crop development is complete, only maintenance breeding is required, as with all crops to ensure ongoing agronomic competitiveness. This makes ongoing costs relatively small compared to supplementation and fortification, which have little reduction in ongoing costs, and the market reach of the crops is extensive. Biofortification is a key recommendation for governments and policymakers where micronutrient malnutrition is a public health problem.

- **Monitoring and evaluation:** For biofortification to be effective, it is essential that farmers and consumers have access to choose biofortified crops and foods. Monitoring efforts should track the availability, quality and nutrient content of biofortified crops and foods along the supply chain in order to ensure significant coverage of these crops/foods and that their micronutrient content remains at levels sufficient enough to have a measurable nutritional impact in individuals. Evaluations can shed light onto whether government programs are being implemented effectively, are delivering intended outcomes, and are contributing to the overall impact of reducing micronutrient deficiencies.
- Scaling up and sustaining: Given that biofortification targets the main staple crop(s) produced and consumed within a country, there is potential to reach significant scale in adoption, and by extension, a significant reduction in micronutrient deficiency.

Biofortification in public policy

Biofortification has been endorsed by several heads of state in Africa and by the African Development Bank as a tool to achieve the African Union's Malabo Declaration commitment to reduce or eliminate child undernutrition. Numerous reports have been published that champion biofortification technology, including FAQ's 2017 policy guideline, *Nutrition-Sensitive Agriculture and Food-systems in Practice: Options for Intervention*⁶¹; the Malabo-Montpellier Panel Report, *Nourished: How Africa Can Build a Future Free from Hunger and Malnutrition*⁶²; the World Bank's Agriculture Global Practice Report, *An Overview of Links Between Obesity and Food-Systems Implications for the Agriculture Agenda*⁶³; and the African Development Bank's Multi-Sectoral Nutrition Strategy, *Harnessing "Grey Matter Infrastructure" to Unlock the Human and Economic Potential of Africa: Catalyzing Nutrition Smart Investments to Support a 40% Stunting Reduction in Africa by* 2025⁶⁴

To date, 24 countries have included biofortification in their national agriculture, nutrition, and/or health policies and plans (e.g., Bangladesh's Second National Plan of Action for Nutrition, India's Varietal Release Protocol and Public Distribution Scheme, and Rwanda's Nutrition Action Plan).

FAO-HarvestPlus collaboration and case studies

FAO's commitment to support countries to improve nutrition is enshrined in the preamble to its constitution—it is a fundamental cornerstone of the work of the organization. FAO takes a food systems approach to address nutritional challenges globally and works across a range of program and policy areas aimed at increasing availability, accessibility, affordability, and acceptance of sustainable and healthy diets. FAO is working with HarvestPlus on a number of initiatives in biofortification, which are aligned with its goals of supporting nutrition through a food system approach. For example, FAO and HarvestPlus are working together in Zimbabwe to leverage and strengthen existing national policy and private industry to improve smallholder farmers' livelihoods and nutrition through scaling up the delivery of vitamin A orange maize and high-iron beans. In Uganda HarvestPlus and its partners helped improve women's earning potential and access to markets through women-led farmer groups. In Brazil, the Maranhão state government is working to ensure school meals are healthy and linked to the direct purchase of biofortified crops from smallholder farmers. In an upcoming project in the Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), supported by HarvestPlus, FAO will include high-iron beans in seed packets distributed to households to support government implementation of a World Bank-funded multisectoral nutrition loan.

In 2015, FAO, with financial support from the Government of the United Kingdom through the Department for International Development (DFID), established the Livelihoods and Food Security Program (LFSP) in Zimbabwe to improve food security and reduce poverty among rural populations through the production and consumption of biofortified vitamin A orange maize and high iron beans. HarvestPlus is a strategic partner in the program and provides capacity building, technical assistance, specialized product knowledge, and is also responsible for introducing and scaling up biofortified crop cultivation. To date, more than 250,000 households in 12 districts of Zimbabwe have been reached with a total of 250MT of vitamin A orange maize and 200MT of high iron beans, both directly and through market-led interventions. In 2019, additional funding was secured to help facilitate scaling up and to ensure sustainable uptake of biofortified crops in Zimbabwe.

Vitamin A OFSP program in Uganda improved women's access to markets

In Uganda, 27 percent of households are headed by women. Although women have primary control over food choices, men and women have complex and shifting roles in crop choice and on-farm labor supply in smallholder agriculture. In the vitamin A OFSP project in Uganda, HarvestPlus recognized the importance of ensuring that gender-focused activities were an ongoing part of program development, monitoring, and adjustment, resulting in a high degree of gender sensitivity. The project used existing community structures to address gender issues through community dialogues, which helped to improve uptake of vitamin A OFSP. The membership of farmers' groups targeted for adoption of vitamin A OFSP were predominantly women—some farmers' groups had only female members, while others had both genders represented. Women played a vital role in the diffusion of food-based agricultural technologies.

Biofortified crops incorporated into Maranhão State (Brazil) policy for food and nutritional security

In 2009, Brazil enacted a decentralized national public policy, the Programa de Compra da Agricultura Familiar, which guarantees that at least 30 percent of produce purchased for school-feeding programs is supplied by smallholder family farms ("Agricultura Familiar"). In 2016, the Maranhão state government recognized biofortified crops as a priority food and nutrition security policy. Building on the successes of the national school-feeding legislation, the Maranhão state government invested the equivalent of over 2.5 million USD in biofortified crops and established an agreement to incentivize smallholder farmers to grow and sell biofortified crops such as yellow cassava, OFSP, orange maize, beans, and cowpeas to the state school-feeding programs. The pilot project has already reached over 3,600 farm families in over 15 municipalities and has served as an innovative model to improve the nutrition of school-aged children by incorporating biofortified foods into school lunches.

FAO and HarvestPlus help diversify agriculture production in the DRC

In the DRC, FAO promotes biofortified crop varieties in its work to strengthen farmers' access to seed and planting materials. For example, a four-year, EUR 50 million project funded by Germany, implemented jointly by FAO, WFP, and UNICEF, features biofortified varieties of high-iron beans and OFSP. In 2020, FAO and HarvestPlus will work together under a five-year World Bank loan to the DRC Ministry of Health to implement a multi-sectoral nutrition program. HarvestPlus will supply high-iron bean seeds for inclusion in seed packets to be distributed by FAO as part of a diversification of agricultural production.

Frequently asked questions about biofortification

Are biofortified crops genetically modified (GM)?

Biofortified crops are food crops that have been nutritionally enhanced using conventional crop breeding or transgenic technology. However, the vast majority of biofortified crops currently available have been developed through conventional crop breeding. These crop varieties are released by national partners in compliance with existing laws and regulations.

Are biofortified crops safe to consume?

Yes. The risk of excessive consumption of micronutrients from biofortified foods is minimal because 1) the maximum amounts possibly ingested from biofortified foods are well below any upper tolerable limit for vitamin A, iron, or zinc; and 2) the amount of micronutrients absorbed are tightly regulated by the body and influenced by the food matrix. Biofortified crops enriched with iron increase body iron levels slowly. They provide a safe, practical, and efficacious approach to reduce nutritional iron deficiency and improve iron intake. Additionally, all plant-based foods, like biofortified vitamin A orange maize or yellow cassava, provide precursors to vitamin A (e.g., beta carotene and beta-cryptoxanthin) that require conversion in the body to the active form of vitamin A (retinol). This process is downregulated when there is already enough vitamin A within the body, minimizing the risk of toxicity from retinol. Carotenoids are not known to be toxic at the maximum levels achieved by biofortification. While not without any risk to specific population groups (e.g., individuals with thalassemia or hemochromatosis, in the case of iron), the risk of biofortification is far outweighed by the potential benefit of reduced burden from micronutrient deficiencies.

It is recommended that, when available, data on population dietary intake of vitamin A and iron, markers of status, and coverage of control programs are used to determine the severity of deficiency and identify the populations or geographic regions most likely to benefit from biofortification programs, as recommended for commercial fortification interventions. HarvestPlus uses multiple strategies to ensure risk is minimized, including conducting background nutrition surveys in areas of implementation to determine usual intakes, prioritizing crop delivery by country using the Biofortification Priority Index, and documenting the coverage of other micronutrient interventions.

Do biofortified crops deplete the soil of nutrients?

No. The additional quantity of minerals taken from the soil by biofortified crops is insignificant. Provitamin A carotenoid synthesis by plants does not require additional nutrients from the soil.

Does biofortification reduce yield and/or other agronomic properties of crops?

No. Plants, just like people, need micronutrients to grow and be healthy. Micronutrient-rich seeds show greater seedling vigor, and the resulting crops are more productive. The nutrient trait is added to the breeding program at the CGIAR center and National Agricultural Research Extension Systems (NARES) that are already using high-yielding lines of these crops. All released biofortified varieties are agronomically competitive in the agroecological zone(s) for which they were developed, relative to the varieties farmers already grow.

Do biofortified seeds need to be repeatedly purchased by farmers?

In most cases, no. Most food crops in the developing world are not hybrids crops (i.e., they do not need to be purchased annually). Biofortified crops that are non-hybrids include zinc wheat, rice, and open pollinated maize; iron pearl millet and common beans; and vitamin A OFSP (roots and vines) and yellow cassava (cuttings). These biofortified crops can be saved, shared, and replanted, though regular replacement of seed/clean planting material is encouraged to sustain yield advantages.

Are biofortified crops equitable?

Yes. In the case of staple foods, differential food allocation within a household does not usually happen. Biofortified staple crops are specifically developed to benefit everyone in a household–everyone who consumes staple crops as their primary, everyday source of food get to benefit from them.

Does biofortification undermine biodiversity?

No. Biofortified crops are the result of genetic diversity conserved in seed banks around the world. The process leverages the natural variation in micronutrient content across the spectrum of varieties of a crop, often utilizing varieties that are no longer grown in conjunction with varieties that are well-adapted for a given location. When a biofortified crop is bred, multiple varieties are released over time, recognizing that different farmers have different preferences. Biofortification is not a substitute for diversification of crop production; rather it is part of such a strategy that includes the use of species and crop varieties that are well adapted.

Does biofortification help mitigate challenges of climate change?

Yes. Prior to release, biofortified varieties are tested under various stress conditions (e.g., biotic and abiotic or exposure to virus, fungi, heat, drought, etc.) to make sure that their nutritious and agronomic benefits remain, even in adverse climates. Rising carbon dioxide levels will increase the carbohydrate content and simultaneously decrease the iron, zinc, and protein content of the edible portions of plants, reducing nutritional value by 3-17 percent compared with current conditions. Biofortification helps offset this by increasing the level of micronutrients in the crops. Given genotypic differences within species in their extent of vulnerability to decreases in zinc and iron from enhanced carbon dioxide supply, it should also be possible to breed against this risk through biofortification.

List of references

- 1. Black RE. Global distribution and disease burden related to micronutrient deficiencies. Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser. 2014; 78: 21–28
- 2. Bhutta ZA. Micronutrient needs of malnourished children. CurrOpinNutrMetab. 2008; 11 (3):309-14.
- 3. Black RE, Allen LH, Bhutta ZA, Caufield LE, de Onis M, Ezzati M, Mathers C, Rivera J & Maternal and Child Undernutrition Study Group. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. Lancet. 2009; 371(9608):243-60.
- 4. Black RE. Micronutrients in pregnancy. Br J Nutr. 2001; 85 (Suppl 2): S193-7.
- 5. Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani, AlMazroa MA, Amann M, Anderson HR, Andrews KG, et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet 2012; 380: 2197-223.
- 6. Horton SJ, Alderman H, Rivera JA. Hunger and malnutrition: Copenhagen Consensus Challenge Paper. 2008.
- Peña-Rosas JP & Garcia-Casal MN. Special Issue: Staple crops biofortified with vitamins and minerals: considerations for a public health strategy. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2017; 1390.
- 8. EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2015. Scientific opinion on Dietary Reference Values for iron. EFSA Journal 2015;13(10):4254-115.
- 9. EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2015. Scientific opinion on Dietary Reference Values for vitamin A. EFSA Journal 2015;13(3):4028-84
- 10. EFSA NDA Panel (EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies), 2014. Scientific opinion on Dietary Reference Values for zinc. EFSA Journal 2014;12(10):3844-76.
- 11. De Brauw A, Eozenou P, Gilligan DO, Hotz C, Jumar N, Meenakshi JV. Biofortification, crop adoption, and health information: impact pathways in Mozambique and Uganda. Amer J Agr Econ. 2018; 100(3):906-30.
- 12. Birol E, Meenakshi JV, Oparinde A, Perez S, Tomlins K. Developing country consumers' acceptance of biofortified foods: a synthesis. Food Security. 2015 Jun 1;7(3):555-68.
- 13. Brouwer R. Adoption of orange-fleshed sweet potato varieties by urban consumers in Maputo, Mozambique. African Journal of Agriculture and Food Security. 2019 Jan;7(1):293-301.
- 14. Hummel M, Talsma EF, Van der Honing A, Gama AC, Van Vugt D, Brouwer ID, Spillane C. Sensory and cultural acceptability tradeoffs with nutritional content of biofortified orange-fleshed sweet potato varieties among households with children in Malawi. PLoS ONE. 2018;13(10): e0204754.
- 15. Chowdhury S, Meenakshi JV, Tomlins KI, Owori C. Are consumers in developing countries willing to pay more for micronutrient-dense biofortified foods? Evidence from a field experiment in Uganda. American Journal of Agricultural Economics. 2011 Jan 10: 93(1):83-97.
- 16. Naico AT, Lusk JL. The value of a nutritionally enhanced staple crop: results from a choice experiment conducted with orange-fleshed sweet potatoes in Mozambique. Journal of African Economies. 2010 Mar 30;19(4):536-58.
- 17. TedlaDiressie M, Zulu E, Smale M, Simpungwe E, Birol E. An assessment of the vitamin A maize seed delivery efforts to date: Agro-dealer sales and farmer production in Zambia. SUNFUND Project Report. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute. 2016.
- 18. TedlaDiressie M, Zulu E, Smale M, Simpungwe E, Birol E. An assessment of the vitamin A maize seed delivery efforts to date: Agro-dealer sales and farmer production in Zambia. SUNFUND Project Report. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute. 2016.

- 19. Meenakshi JV, Banerji A, Manyong V, Tomlins K, Mittal N, Hamukwala P. Using a discrete choice experiment to elicit the demand for a nutritious food: Willingness-to-pay for orange maize in rural Zambia. Journal of Health Economics. 2012 Jan 31;31(1):62-71.
- 20. Sunday OA, Simeon BA, Olatundun A. Profitability of investment and farm level efficiency among groups of vitamin A cassava farmers in Oyo State Nigeria. American Journal of Environmental and Resource Economics. 2019;8(1):14-19.
- 21. Talsma EF, Melse-Boonstra A, de Kok BPH, Mbera GNK, Mwangi AM, Brouwer ID. Biofortified cassava with pro-vitamin A is sensory and culturally acceptable for consumption by primary schoolchildren in Kenya. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(8):e73433
- 22. Esuma W, Nanyonjo AR, Miiro R, Angudubo S, Kawuki RS. Men and women's perception of yellowroot cassava among rural farmers in eastern Uganda. Agriculture & Food Security. 2019;8:10.
- 23. Bechoff A, Chijioke U, Westby A, Tomlinsm KI. 'Yellow is good for you': Consumer perception and acceptability of fortified and biofortified cassava products. PLoS ONE. 2018;13(9):e0203421.
- 24. Oparinde A, Banerji A, Birol E, Ilona P. Information and consumer willingness to pay for biofortified yellow cassava: evidence from experimental auctions in Nigeria. Agricultural Economics. 2016;47:215-233.
- 25. Asare-Marfo D, Herrington C, Birachi E, Birol E, Cook K, Diressie MT, Dusenge L, Funes J, Katsvairo L, Katungi E, Labarta R, LaRochelle C, Lividini K, Moursi M, Mulambu J, Murekezi A, Musoni A, Nkundimana JA, Vaiknoras K, Zeller M. Assessing the adoption of high iron bean varieties and their impact on iron intakes and other livelihood outcomes in Rwanda: Main survey report. Washington, DC: HarvestPlus. 2016.
- 26. Oparinde A, Birol E, Murekezi A, Katsvairo L, Diressie MT, Nkundjmana J, Butare L. Radio messaging frequency, information framing, and consumer willingness to pay for biofortified iron beans: Evidence from revealed preference elicitation in rural Rwanda. Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics/Revue Canadienne D'Agroeconomie. 2016b Dec1;64(4):613–52.
- 27. Beintema JJ, Gallego-Castillo S, Londoño-Hernandez LF, Restrepo-Manjarres J, Talsma EF. Scaling-up biofortified beans high in iron and zinc through the school-feeding program: A sensory acceptance study with school children from two departments in southwest Colombia. Food Science & Nutrition. 2018.
- 28. Pérez S, Buriticab A, Oparinde A, Birol E, Gonzalez C, Zeller M. Identifying socioeconomic characteristics defining consumers' acceptance for main organoleptic attributes of an ironbiofortified bean variety in Guatemala. International Journal on Food System Dynamics. 2017;8(3):222-35.
- 29. Pérez S, Gonzalez, C, Oparinde, A, Birol E, Zeller, M. The role of respondents' market participation in consumer acceptance of seeds and grains of an iron-enriched bean variety in Guatemala. Journal of Agricultural Studies. 2018;6(4):36-53.
- 30. Karandikar, B., E. Birol & M. TedlaDiressie. 2013. Farmer feedback study on high iron pearl millet delivery, distribution and diffusion in India. In 2013 AAEA & CAES Joint Annual Meeting, August 4–6, 2013,Washington, DC.
- 31. Banerji A, Birol E, Karandikar B, Rampal J. Information, branding, certification, and consumer willingness to pay for high-iron pearl millet: Evidence from experimental auctions in Maharashtra, India. Food Policy. 2016;62:133-41.41.
- 32. Catalyzing biofortified food systems: 2018 annual report. Washington, DC: HarvestPlus. 2018.
- 33. Bouis HE & Saltzman A. Improving nutrition through biofortification: A review of evidence from HarvestPlus, 2003 through 2016. Global Food Security, 2017.

- 34. Haskell MJ, Jamil KM, Hassan F, et al. Daily consumption of Indian spinach (Basella alba) or sweet potatoes has a positive effect on total-body vitamin A stores in Bangladeshi men. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2004 Sep;80(3):705-14.
- 35. van Jaarsveld PJ, Faber M, Tanumihardjo SA, Nestel P, Lombard CJ, Benadé AJ. β-Carotene-rich orangefleshed sweet potato improves the vitamin A status of primary schoolchildren assessed with the modified-relative-dose-response test. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2005 May;81(5):1080-7.
- 36. Low JW, Arimond M, Osman N, Cunguara B, Zano F, Tschirley D. A food-based approach introducing orange-fleshed sweet potatoes increased vitamin A intake and serum retinol concentrations in young children in rural Mozambique. The Journal of Nutrition. 2007 May;137(5):1320-7.
- 37. Hotz C, Loechl C, Lubowa A, et al. Introduction of β -carotene–rich orange sweet potato in rural Uganda resulted in increased vitamin A intakes among children and women and improved vitamin A status among children. The Journal of Nutrition. 2012 Oct;142(10):1871-80.
- 38. Hotz C, Loechl, C, de Brauw A, Eozenou, P. A large-scale intervention to introduce orange sweet potato in rural Mozambique increases vitamin A intakes among children and women. British Journal of Nutrition. 2012;108:163-176.
- 39. Jones KM, de Brauw A. Using agriculture to improve child health: Promoting orange sweet potatoes reduces diarrhea. World Development. 2015 Oct 31;74:15-24.
- 40. Gannon B, Kaliwile C, Arscott SA, et al. Biofortified orange maize is as efficacious as a vitamin A supplement in Zambian children even in the presence of high liver reserves of vitamin A: A community-based, randomized placebo-controlled trial. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014 Dec;100(6):1541-50.
- 41. Palmer AC, Siamusantu W, Chileshe J, et al. Provitamin A–biofortified maize increases serum β -carotene, but not retinol, in marginally nourished children: A cluster-randomized trial in rural Zambia. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016a Jul 1;104(1):181-90.
- 42. Palmer AC, Craft NE, Schulze KJ, et al. Impact of biofortified maize consumption on serum carotenoid concentrations in Zambian children. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2018 Feb;72(2):301-303.
- 43. Palmer AC, Healy K, Barffour MA, et al. Provitamin A carotenoid–biofortified maize consumption increases pupillary responsiveness among Zambian children in a randomized controlled trial. The Journal of Nutrition. 2016b Dec;146(12):2551-8.
- 44. Talsma EF, Brouwer ID, Verhoef H, et al. Biofortified yellow cassava and vitamin A status of Kenyan children: A randomized controlled trial. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016 Jan;103(1):258-67.
- 45. Taleon V, Sumbu D, Muzhingi T, Bidiaka S. Carotenoids retention in biofortified yellow cassava processed with traditional African methods. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture. 2019 Feb;99(3):1434-1441.
- 46. Petry N, Rohner F, Gahutu JB, Campion B, Boy E, Tugirimana PL, Zimmerman MB, Zwahlen C, Wirth JP, Moretti D. In Rwandese women with low Iron status, iron absorption from low-phytic acid beans and biofortified beans is comparable, but low-phytic acid beans cause adverse gastrointestinal symptoms. Journal of Nutrition. 2016 May;146(5):970-5.
- 47. Kodkany BS, Bellad RM, Mahantshetti NS, Westcott JE, Krebs NF, Kemp JF, Hambidge KM. Biofortification of pearl millet with iron and zinc in a randomized controlled trial increases absorption of these minerals above physiologic requirements in young children. Journal of Nutrition. 2013 Sep;143(9):1489-93.
- 48. Haas JD, Luna SV, Lung'aho MG, et al. Consuming iron biofortified beans increases iron status in Rwandan women after 128 days in a randomized controlled feeding trial. The Journal of Nutrition. 2016 Aug;146(8):1586-92.

- 49. Luna S, Lung'aho M, Gahutu JB, Haas J. Effects of an iron-biofortification feeding trial on physical performance of Rwandan women.European Journal of Nutrition & Food Safety. Conference Abstract. 2015 Aug;5(5):1189.
- 50. Murray-Kolb LE, Wenger MJ, Scott SP, Rhoten SE, Lung'aho MG, Haas JD. Consumption of ironbiofortified beans positively affects cognitive performance in 18-to 27-year-old Rwandan female college students in an 18-week randomized controlled efficacy trial. The Journal of Nutrition. 2017 Nov;147(11):2109-17.
- 51. Wenger MJ, Rothen SE, Murray-Kolb LE, et al. Changes in iron status are related to changes in brain activity and behavior in Rwandan female university students: results from a randomized controlled efficacy trial involving iron-biofortified beans. The Journal of Nutrition. 2019 Mar;149(4):687-697.
- 52. Finkelstein JL, Mehta S, Udipi SA, et al. A randomized trial of iron-biofortified pearl millet in schoolchildren in India. The Journal of Nutrition. 2015 Jul;145(7):1576-81.
- 53. Scott S, Murray-Kolb L, Wenger M, et al. Cognitive performance in Indian school-going adolescents is positively affected by consumption of iron-biofortified pearl millet: A 6-month randomized controlled efficacy trial. The Journal of Nutrition. 2018;148:1-10.
- 54. Rosado JL, Hambidge KM, Miller LV, Garcia OP, Westcott J, Gonzalez K, Conde J, Hotz C, Pfeiffer W, Ortiz-Monasterio I, Krebs NF. The quantity of zinc absorbed from wheat in adult women is enhanced by biofortification. The Journal of Nutrition. 2009 Oct 1;139(10):1920-5.
- 55. Signorell C, Zimmermann MB, Cakmak I, Wegmüller R, Zeder C, Hurrel R, Aciksoz SB, Boy E, Tay F, Frossard E, Moretti D., Zinc absorption from agronomically biofortified wheat Is similar to postharvest fortified wheat and is a substantial source of bioavailable zinc in humans. The Journal of Nutrition. 2019 May;149(5):840-846.
- 56. Sazawal, S, Dhingra, U, Dhingra P, Dutta, A, Deb, S, Kumar, J, Devi, P, Prakash, A. Efficacy of high zinc biofortified wheat in improvement of micronutrient status, and prevention of morbidity among preschool children and women a double masked, randomized, controlled trial. Nutrition Journal. 2018; 17:86.
- 57. Brni M, Wegmüller R, Melse-Boonstra A, Stomph T, Zeder C, Tay FM, Hurrell RF. Zinc absorption by adults is similar from intrinsically labeled zinc-biofortified rice and from rice fortified with labeled zinc sulfate. The Journal of Nutrition. 2016 Jan 1;146(1):76-80.
- 58. Mundial B. World Development Report 1993: Investing in health. Washington, DC: World Bank. 1993.
- 59. Arimond M, Ball AM, Bechoff A, et al. Reaching and engaging end users (REU): Orange-fleshed sweet potato in East and Southern Africa. Washington, DC: HarvestPlus. 2010.
- 60. Lividini K, Fiedler JL, De Moura FF, Moursi M, Zeller M. Biofortification: A review of ex-ante models. Global Food Security. 2017.
- 61. The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). Nutrition-sensitive agriculture and food systems in practice: Options for intervention. Rome: FAO. 2017. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i7848e.pdf
- 62. Katrin Glatzel&MahamadouTankari. Nourished: how Africa can build a future free from hunger and malnutrition. Malabo Montpellier Panel: Montpellier. 2017. Available at: https://www.mamopanel.org/media/uploads/files/RPT_2017_MaMo_web_v01.pdf
- 63. Aira Htenas, YurieTanimichi-Hoberg& Lynn Brown. An overview of links between obesity and food systems: Implications for the Agriculture GP Agenda. Washington, DC: World Bank. 2017. Available at: https://www.gainhealth.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Final-Overweight-Obesity-Report.pdf
- 64. African Development Bank Group. Multi-Sectoral Nutrition Action Plan 2018-2025. Harnessing "grey matter infrastructure" to unlock the human and economic potential of Africa: Catalyzing nutrition smart investments to support a 40% stunting reduction in Africa by 2025. Abidjan: Human Capital, Youth and Skills Development Department (AHHD). 2018. Available at: https://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Generic-Documents/Banking_on_Nutrition

Contact information

HarvestPlus

email: HarvestPlus@cgiar.org | c/o IFPRI, 1201 Eye Street, NW Washington, DC 20005 USA Tel: +1.202.862.5600 | Fax: 202-467-4439 | www.HarvestPlus.org

FAO

email: nutrition-policies@fao.org | www.fao.org



HarvestPlus, c/o IFPRI 1201 Eye Street, NW Washington, DC 20005 USA Tel: 202-862-5600 Fax: 202-467-4439 | www.HarvestPlus.org